**RECEIVED**

**Mar 02 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA**

**In the Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
H.W. Funderburk, Jr. Administrative Law Judge

Case No.: 20-ALJ-22-0070-AP

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000981

---

Robert M. Ardis,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Employment and  
Workforce and Sykes Enterprises, Inc.,

Respondents

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Robert M. Ardis, *pro se*  
105 North Guignard Drive  
Sumter, S.C. 29150  
(803)-236-0859  
michael.ardis2001@gmail.com

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

### FACTS

COMES NOW, the Appellant, ROBERT M. ARDIS, on his own behalf<sup>1</sup>, and respectfully files this his **Initial Brief**. This **Initial Brief** is being filed pursuant to **South Carolina Code of Laws § 1-23-380**, which reads in relevant part as follows:

*(3) If a timely application is made to the court for leave to present additional evidence, and it is shown to the satisfaction of the court that the additional evidence is material and that there were good reasons for failure to present it in the proceeding before the agency, the court may order that the additional evidence be taken before the agency upon conditions determined by the court. The agency may modify its findings and decision by reason of the additional evidence and shall file the evidence and modifications, new findings, or decisions with the reviewing court.*

It is respectfully submitted that this Honorable Court should immediately **ORDER**, a hearing, since one has never been heard, and the Appellant has never been heard,

---

<sup>1</sup> See Erickson v. Pardus 551 U.S. 89, 127 S. Ct. 2197 U.S., 2007. A document filed *pro se* is to be liberally construed, and a *pro se* complaint, however inartfully pleaded, must be held to less stringent standards than formal pleadings drafted by lawyers. Pleadings in this case are being filed by the Petitioner *in propria persona*, wherein pleadings are to be considered without regard to technicalities. Propria pleadings are not to be held to the same high standards of perfection as practicing lawyers. See Haines v. Kerner 92 S. Ct. 594, also See Powell v. Lennon, 914 F2d 1459 (11th Cir 1990).

in accordance with the South Carolina Constitution, and numerous laws and regulations of this state.

In accordance with **South Carolina Code of Laws § 41-35-760.**

**Publication of department regulations on electronic website**, a copy of which was included with the undersigned's March 16, 2020, filings with the Lower Tribunal, the undersigned is asking this Court to **REMAND** these matters, immediately to a neutral and detached Judge, not affiliated with SC DEW, so the undersigned can be heard. I am making such a request, pursuant to the provisions found in **South Carolina Code 1976 § 1-23-380(1)**, and also found in **South Carolina Code 1976 § 1-23-380(3)**.

1. The Appellant/Claimant is requesting that this Court to **REMAND** this case and **ORDER** an evidentiary hearing. Such a hearing has never been held. The undersigned is not pursuing an Appeal, but also is pursuing a **REMAND**.
2. It is respectfully submitted that in my opinion, SC DEW is a grossly mismanaged, State Agency, which lacks oversight and accountability. I have been involved in a terse, adversarial relationship with that Agency, because it does **not** follow the law.
3. The South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce, SC DEW, is **not** in Compliance with several laws passed by the General Assembly and signed by the Governor. With some of those laws have been enacted over a full

decade ago. For the sake of judicial economy and brevity, the Appellant/Claimant is not duplicating the production of those previously filed Appendixes. The Appellant/Claimant would respectfully request the Court reviews his March 16, 2020, filing before the lower tribunal, the South Carolina Administrative Law Court. And that the Court takes **Judicial Notice** of the following:

Appendix A: March 9, 2020, email serving as follow-up SC FOIA Request

Appendix B: South Carolina Code 1976 § 41-35-760

Appendix C: South Carolina Code 1976 § 1-23-380

Appendix D: South Carolina Code 1976 § 41-35-750

Appendix E: South Carolina Code 1976 § 41-35-750

Appendix F: South Carolina Code 1976 § 41-29-300

Appendix G: S.C. Code of Regulations R. 47-2

Appendix H: Rule 59, S.C. Rules of Civil Procedure

Appendix I: January 29, 2020 “Decision” of Appeals Tribunal

Appendix J: February 26, 2020, “Decision” of Appellate Panel

Appendix K: March 6, 2020, “Decision” of Appellate Panel in response to March 3, 2020, Emergency Motion to Strike and Emergency Motion for Reconsideration

Appendix L: March 3, 2020, Emergency Motion to Strike and Emergency Motion for Reconsideration

- Appendix M: History and Overview of Work Environment
- Appendix N: Selected Bibliography of Sykes Lawsuit History
- Appendix O: Petition for *writ of mandamus*, filed in Sumter County Circuit Court on January 22, 2020 (minus attachments)

4. The Appellant/Claimant is respectfully requesting that the Court takes **Compulsory Judicial Notice** of **Appendix A** through **Appendix O**, in accordance with **Rule 201 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure**, and any and all applicable Rules of this Court, keeping in mind that the undersigned is *pro se*. Specifically, **Rule 201(b)** and **Rule 201 (d)**, which read as follows:

**(b) Kinds of Facts.** A judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.

**(d) When Mandatory.** A court shall take judicial notice if requested by a party and supplied with the necessary information.

**REASONS TO INVOKE THE PROVISIONS OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
CODE 1976 § 1-23-380**

5. The Appellant/Claimant is respectfully invoking **South Carolina Code 1976 § 1-23-380(3)**, which reads as follows:

(3) If a timely **application** is made to the court for **leave to present additional evidence**, and it is shown to the satisfaction of the court that the additional evidence is material and that there were good reasons for failure to present it in the proceeding before the agency, **the court may order that the additional evidence be taken before the agency upon conditions determined by the court.**<sup>2</sup> The agency may modify its findings and decision by reason of the additional evidence and shall file the evidence and modifications, new findings, or decisions with the reviewing court. **(emphasis added)**

6. The Appellant/Claimant is asking this Honorable Court to **REMAND** these matters back, to a neutral and detached Arbiter and/or Judge, based on the refusal of the Respondents, SC DEW, to follow the law. This Court should Order that an actual hearing, with sworn testimony and evidence, be held, since there has never been a hearing held. I would also request that this Court takes such actions on an Expedited basis, in the interests of justice, because my family has been suffering, for years, due to the inactions, and illegal activity of SC DEW. I am requesting an **in-person, Appeals Hearing**.

7. The Appellant/Claimant avers that this should be done because SC DEW has **never** complied with **South Carolina Code 1976 § 41-35-760**. This Court is a

---

<sup>2</sup> The Appellant respectfully requests that this Honorable Court Appoints a neutral and detached Arbiter and/or Judge, who is not associated with the Respondents. They have demonstrated, since 2019 that they will not comply with the law.

reviewing Court and can consider these matters in reaching a decision pursuant to **South Carolina Code 1976 § 1-23-380(3)**. I would respectfully request that this Honorable Court searches the website of SC DEW, as it relates<sup>3</sup> to § **41-35-760**, in an attempt to locate any of the following:

**(B) Regulations governing procedures at hearings and appeals before the department shall include, at a minimum:**

**(1) procedures for seeking a hearing, review, or appeal;**

**(2) procedures for notifying parties;**

**(3) evidentiary rules;**

**(4) procedures for making findings of fact and conclusions of law;**

**(5) procedures for making and maintaining an appropriate record of interviews and proceedings before the department; and**

**(6) procedures for seeking review or appeal of the department's decision.**

**(C) All regulations must be promulgated in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23, Title 1 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.**

---

<sup>3</sup> It should be noted that since litigation has commenced between the Appellant and the Respondents, after I have pointed out their deficiencies, they have begun to correct their violations of the law. I would recommend that this Court requests an effective date for any such changes.

8. The Appellant/Claimant avers that he has been **Retaliated against**, by SC DEW, for pointing out that that Agency has **never** complied with **South Carolina Code 1976 § 41-35-760**, which mandatorily requires the following:

**(A) The department must promulgate all regulations described in this chapter and regulations governing procedures at all proceedings, hearings, and appeals before the department or any member or employee of the department, including claims for benefit determinations, and all appeals of determinations regarding those claims, and publish all regulations on an electronic website.(emphasis added)**

9. For these reasons, alone, this Honorable Court should **REMAND** these matters to, to a neutral and detached Arbiter and/or Judge to act in the stead of the Respondents, SCDEW. And **ORDER** that neutral and detached Judge to actually hold an **in-person, Appeals Hearing**, in accordance with the attached laws. This has never been done, and, without such an Appeals Hearing being held, then my family and I will continue to suffer the unjust, illegal consequences of the arbitrary and mean-spirited actions of SC DEW.

10. Because of SC DEW's actions and failures and violations of the attached laws, the Appellant/Claimant has been forced to do the following:

**forced to take out a high interest title loan against my vehicle**

**forced to sell my burial plot in my family plot**

**go to the Salvation Army for food donations**

**go to United Ministries for food donations and assistance with our utility bills**

Because of DEW's violations of the law, I have been forced to take such actions to put food on my family's table, and to keep the lights and other utilities turned on. I moved back to South Carolina from Florida, to care for my 79 year old Mother who is suffering from Stage 4 Bone Cancer. Because of the complete lack of professionalism from SC DEW, I was also forced to take the actions immediately above to help defray the costs of her chemotherapy and radiation treatments. No one should ever have to take such drastic actions. Unemployment compensation is a safety net that is put there to help us when we are in need and my family is in need. And I am respectfully requesting that this Honorable Court takes immediate action, and **REMANDS** these matters to a neutral and detached Judge to act on behalf of SC DEW since they have failed to follow the law since 2019

11. The Appellate Panel is bound by the **Code of Judicial Conduct**, and other controlling legal authorities, yet in its "Decision" (**Appendixes J & K**) it completely violated not only the **Code of Judicial Conduct**, but several other legal authorities. **South Carolina Code 1976 § 41-29-300**, reads in pertinent part as follows:

(F)(1) A panelist is **bound by the Code of Judicial Conduct**, as contained in Rule 501 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, and the State Ethics Commission is responsible for enforcement and administration of Rule 501 pursuant to [Section 8-13-320](#). A panelist also must comply with the applicable requirements of Chapter 13, Title 8.**(emphasis added)**

12. I would respectfully direct the Court to **Appendix L**, which is my **March 3, 2020, Emergency Motion to Strike and Emergency Motion for Reconsideration**. Specifically, with the filing of **Appendix L**, I requested that SC DEW issue an Order **STRIKING** both **Appendix I** and **Appendix J**, and that SC DEW actually call up and conduct an Appeal Hearing, which is something that Agency has never done. Here is a microcosm of what is contained in **Appendix L**.

13. There has **never** been an Appeal Hearing held in accordance with the laws of South Carolina. Accordingly, the "Decisions" of the SC DEW Appeals Tribunal, and Appellate Panel, cannot stand. Both "Decisions" are based exclusively on "hearsay" and the law and regulations are clear on this point. **South Carolina Code of Regulations, R. 47-51**, reads as follows:

**S.C. Code of Regulations R. 47-51**

**C(3)** Evidence will not be excluded solely because it may be hearsay. Hearsay, including information provided to the Department through telephone conversations and written statements, may be considered. However, findings of fact **cannot be based exclusively on hearsay evidence**

unless that evidence is admissible under the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. (**emphasis added**)

14. Without ever giving me the benefit of a Hearing, and without the submission of evidence and testimony, SC DEW has violated my rights and the rights of my family. Specifically, **South Carolina Code of Regulations, R. 47-2**, reads as follows:

**S.C. Code of Regulations R. 47-2**

The Department may designate by written authorization any of its employees as its representatives to administer oaths and affirmations, issue subpoenas for the production of books, papers, correspondence, and other memoranda deemed necessary by it as evidence in connection with disputed or contested claims, or in the administration of the South Carolina Employment Security Law.

15. The Appellant/Claimant was so emphatic and serious about my Appeal Hearing before SC DEW, that he took the extraordinary step of actually filing an **Emergency Petition for writ of mandamus**, in the Sumter County Circuit Court, in an effort to have the Circuit Court, **ORDER** SC DEW to hold an Appeals Hearing without any further delay. Please see **Appendix O**, which was filed on January 22, 2020, and provided to this Court on March 16, 2020. I am providing the **Emergency Petition for writ of mandamus**,

minus its attachments for the review of the Court.

16. The Appellant/Claimant is filing this **Memorandum of Law/Initial Brief**, under the provisions of **South Carolina Code 1976 § 1-23-380, Judicial review upon exhaustion of administrative remedies**, which reads in part:

**A party who has exhausted all administrative remedies available within the agency and who is aggrieved by a final decision in a contested case is entitled to judicial review pursuant to this article** and Article 1. This section does not limit utilization of or the scope of judicial review available under other means of review, redress, relief, or trial de novo provided by law. A preliminary, procedural, or intermediate agency action or ruling is immediately reviewable if review of the final agency decision would not provide an adequate remedy. Except as otherwise provided by law, an appeal is to the court of appeals. **(emphasis added)**

(1) Proceedings for review are instituted by serving and filing notice of appeal as provided in the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules within thirty days after the final decision of the agency or, if a rehearing is requested, within thirty days after the decision is rendered. Copies of the notice of appeal must be served upon the agency and all parties of record.

(3) If a timely application is made to the court for **leave to present additional evidence**, and it is shown to the satisfaction of the court that the additional evidence is material and that there were good reasons for failure to present it in the proceeding before the agency, **the court may order that the additional evidence be taken before the agency upon conditions determined by the court.** The agency may modify its findings and decision by reason of the additional evidence and shall file the evidence and modifications, new findings, or decisions with the reviewing court. **(emphasis added)**

(4) The review must be conducted by the court and must be confined to the record. In cases of alleged irregularities in procedure before the agency, **not shown in the record,** and established by proof satisfactory to the court, the case may **be remanded to the agency** for action as the court considers appropriate. **(emphasis added)**

17. The actual facts that I wanted to present, and still want to present, can be found in **Appendix M** and **Appendix N**, provided to the lower tribunal on March 16, 2020.

18. Even after SC DEW had taken such actions, in a demonstration of good faith on the part of the Appellant/Claimant, before bringing matters before this Court, the undersigned presented SC DEW with the opportunity to correct its grave errors of law, by **Striking** the "Decisions" of both the Appeals Tribunal (**Appendix I**), and the Appellate Panel (**Appendix J**), all to no avail. Following the filing of his **March 3, 2020, Emergency Motion to Strike and Emergency Motion for Reconsideration, Appendix L**, SC DEW instead choose to ignore its legally required duties, under the law, and issued a letter denying my **Emergency Motion, Appendix L**, with their **Appendix K**. A very sad and telling example of what is wrong with SC DEW.

19. I am respectfully requesting that this Honorable Court takes action on an **Emergency Basis**, pursuant to **South Carolina Code 1976 § 1-23-380**, based upon the facts set forth herein, and especially what is contained in **Appendix L**. I am respectfully incorporating, by reference as if quoted verbatim herein, everything contained within my **Appendix L**, my **March 3, 2020, Emergency Motion to Strike and Emergency Motion for Reconsideration**.

20. The bottom line is that SC DEW has never complied with the laws passed by the South Carolina Legislature and signed by the Governor. So for SC DEW to argue that this Court should Dismiss the undersigned's case, when DEW has neglected its required duty to comply with the law, for over a decade now, smacks of a slippery slop and a blatant, double standard. For example, **South Carolina Code of Laws § 41-35-760. Publication of department regulations on electronic website**, states in part the following:

(A) The department must promulgate all regulations described in this chapter and regulations governing procedures at all proceedings, hearings, and appeals before the department or any member or employee of the department, including claims for benefit determinations, and all appeals of determinations regarding those claims, and **publish all regulations on an electronic website.**

(B) Regulations governing procedures at hearings and appeals before the department shall include, at a minimum:

(1) **procedures for seeking a hearing, review, or appeal;**

(2) **procedures for notifying parties;**

(3) **evidentiary rules;**

(4) **procedures for making findings of fact and conclusions of law;**

(5) procedures for making and maintaining an appropriate record of interviews and proceedings before the department; and

(6) procedures for seeking review or appeal of the department's decision.

(C) All regulations must be promulgated in accordance with the provisions of **Chapter 23, Title 1 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. (emphasis added)**

21. SC DEW did **not**, and has **not**, ever complied with § **41-35-760**. Not only has SC DEW never complied with the aforementioned law, which is eleven years old,<sup>4</sup> furthermore, when I pointed this out to SC DEW, that Agency actually **Retaliated** against me causing dire and extreme harm to me and my family. It is because of such dire, exigent circumstances, that I am pleading with this Honorable Court to invoke the provisions of **South Carolina Code 1976 § 1-23-380**, and immediate **REMAND** these matters back to the SC DEW Appeals Tribunal, specifying and **ORDERING** that a neutral and detached hearing officer be assigned, and that an Emergency, in-person Appeals Hearing be called up, without any further delay.

22. It is axiomatic that an Appeals Hearing has never been conducted by SC DEW in these matters, and the preposterous assertion by the Appeals Tribunal that I "abandoned" my Appeal is belied by the fact that I took the extraordinary measure of filing an **Emergency Petition for writ of mandamus**, with the Sumter County Circuit Court in an effort to Compel SC DEW to hold an Appeals Hearing in these matters. The only reason I backed off the *mandamus petition* was that when I received notification from the Appellate Panel it stated that I had a **Right to Oral Argument**, before that Panel. However, contrary to the law, the Appellate

---

<sup>4</sup> Please request effective date for any changes they have made since my original filings. They have been "updating" their violations of the law recently, but they were not "updated" at the time of my filings.

Panel refused to allow me to have **Oral Argument**, and that is what has brought these matters before this Court.

23. Since there has never been an Appeals Hearing, and since no one has ever been put under Oath pursuant to **S.C. Code of Regulations R. 47-2**, then everything contained in the "Decisions" of SC DEW is hearsay, and this is strictly prohibited by **S.C. Code of Regulations R. 47-51**

**C(3)** Evidence will not be excluded solely because it may be hearsay. Hearsay, including information provided to the Department through telephone conversations and written statements, may be considered. However, findings of fact cannot be based exclusively on hearsay evidence unless that evidence is admissible under the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. (**emphasis added**)

24. **South Carolina Code of Laws § 1-23-360**, states that members or employees of an agency "assigned to *render a decision or to make findings of fact and conclusions of law in a contested case* shall not communicate, directly or indirectly, in connection with any issue of fact, with any person or party, nor, in connection with any issue of law, with any party or its representative, except upon notice and opportunity for all parties to participate." (**emphasis added**) This law is crystal clear and unambiguous, and was not followed by the Appeals Tribunal and subsequently not followed by the Appellate Panel. Here again this Honorable

Court must invoke **South Carolina Code 1976 § 1-23-380**, and **REMAND** these matters to a neutral and detached Judge who shall act in place of SCDEW.

25. Pursuant to **Rule 12(f), South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure**, I am respectfully requesting that this Court issues an **ORDER** which **STRIKES** the attached "Decision" of the Appeals Tribunal, **Appendix I**, and the "Decision" of the Appellate Panel, **Appendix J**, for all the reasons set forth herein.

26. The **South Carolina Constitution Article I, § 22** was added to the 1895 Constitution in 1970 "as a safeguard for the protection of liberty and property of citizens." Final Report of the Committee to Make a Study of the South Carolina Constitution of 1895, p. 21 (1969). **Article I, § 22** provides, in part:

No person **shall be finally bound** by a judicial or quasijudicial decision of an administrative agency affecting private rights except on **due notice and an opportunity to be heard**; nor shall he be subject to the same person for both prosecution and adjudication; . . .**(emphasis added)**

27. The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act (the APA) sets forth the standard for judicial review of decisions by the Commission." (citing § 1-23-380)); Hutson, 399 S.C. at 387, 732 S.E.2d at 503. Under this standard, the Court can reverse or modify the decision if the claimant's substantial rights have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly

erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.

28. First, there has never been any hearing held. The Appellant/Claimant is entitled to due process and has a Right to be heard. This has never happened as far as SC DEW is concerned. See Sloan v. South Carolina Board of Physical Therapy Examiners, 636 S.E.2d 598 (S.C. 2006):

***Holding that in order to prove a denial of due process, a party must show that he was arbitrarily and capriciously deprived of a cognizable property interest rooted in state law***

29. Pursuant to section 1-23-380(5), the reviewing court may reverse or modify the agency's decision ***"if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are . . . clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record."***

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