THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE  
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

RECEIVED

MAY 17 2021

SC Court of Appeals

H. W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge

Case No.: 20-ALJ-22-0070-AP

Appellate Case No. 2020-000981

Robert M. Ardis,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Employment  
and Workforce and Sykes Enterprises,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SC DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT AND  
WORKFORCE

Steven A. Jordan (SC Bar # 100314)  
SC Dept. of Employment and Workforce  
PO Box 8597  
Columbia, SC 29202  
Attorney for Respondent South Carolina  
Department of Employment and Workforce

Robert M. Ardis  
105 N Guignard Dr,

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM BECAUSE THE ALC PROPERLY FOUND IT LACKED APPELLATE JURISDICTION WHEN APPELLANT FAILED TO TIMELY AND PROPERLY SERVE THE DEPARTMENT WITH HIS NOTICE OF APPEAL TO THE ALC.**

#### **A. The ALC lacked appellate jurisdiction because Appellant failed to properly serve the Department with his notice of appeal within thirty days of the mailing date of the Panel's decision as required by section 41-35-750 of the South Carolina Code (2021) and Rule 33, SCALC, and the ALC lacked authority to extend the time for serving the notice of appeal.**

A party filing a notice of appeal requesting judicial review of the Panel's decision must serve the Department with the notice of appeal "[w]ithin thirty days from the date of mailing" of the Panel's decision. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-750 (2021); *see* Rule 33, SCALC (explaining in an appeal from the Panel's decision the appealing party "must" serve the Department with the notice of appeal "within thirty (30) days of the date of mailing of the decision" of the Panel). The appealing party "must" serve the notice of appeal "on the executive director or on a person designated by the Department within the time specified by this section." § 41-35-750. Additionally, Rule 5, SCALC states "[a]ny document filed with the [ALC] shall be served upon all parties to the proceeding." Rule 5 further states "[s]ervice shall be made by delivery, by mail to the last known address, or as otherwise approved by the [ALC] through administrative order."

"The question of compliance with rules, regulations, and statutes governing an appeal is one of appellate jurisdiction." *Allison v. W.L. Gore & Assocs.*, 394 S.C. 185, 188, 714 S.E.2d 547, 549 (2011). Consequently, timely service of the notice of appeal is a jurisdictional requirement under section 41-35-750. And, importantly, our supreme court has declared repeatedly our appellate courts have no authority to extend the time for serving a notice of appeal. *See Allison*, 394 S.C. at 189, 714 S.E.2d at 550 (noting "an appellate body may not extend the time to appeal"); *Elam v. Dep't of Trans.*, 361 S.C. 9, 15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2004) ("The requirement of service

of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, i.e., if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to 'rescue' the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice."); *Mears v. Mears*, 287 S.C. 168, 169, 337 S.E.2d 206, 207 (1985) ("Service of the notice of intent to appeal is a jurisdictional requirement, and this Court has no authority to extend or expand the time in which the notice of intent to appeal must be served.").

In this case, the Panel mailed its denial of Appellant's motion for reconsideration on March 6, 2020. (Denial of Motion to Reconsider, 3/6/20). Thus, Appellant's statutory deadline for serving the Department with the notice of appeal was thirty days later, Monday, April 6, 2020. However, Appellant failed to serve the Department with his notice of appeal by delivery or mail by April 6, 2020, and as discussed below, there was no administrative order from the ALC allowing e-mail service of a notice of appeal. (Affidavit of Kristi Chesley, 4/9/20); *See* Rule 5, SCALC ("Service shall be made by delivery, by mail to the last known address, or as otherwise approved by the [ALC] through administrative order.").

As of the date the Department filed its motion to dismiss, Appellant still had not served the Department with his notice of appeal by delivery or mail. (Affidavit of Kristi Chesley, 4/9/20). Moreover, in his return to the Department's motion to dismiss, Appellant admitted he served his notice of appeal by e-mail only, which as discussed below was insufficient to effectuate service. (Appellant's Answer to Motion to Dismiss, 4/13/20).

Further, Appellant attempts to satisfy the service requirement by claiming he delivered the notice of appeal to DEW on April 16, 2020. (App. Br. 24). Even if Appellant served the notice of appeal by delivery on April 16, 2020, the ALC nevertheless lacked appellate jurisdiction because, as explained above, the statutory time limit for serving the notice of appeal expired on

April 6, 2020. Any attempt by Appellant to serve the notice of appeal via delivery on April 16, 2020, was untimely and did not confer appellate jurisdiction on the ALC. And the ALC lacked authority or discretion to extend the April 6, 2020 deadline. *See Elam*, 361 S.C. at 15, 602 S.E.2d at 775 ("The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, i.e., if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to 'rescue' the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.").

Because Appellant failed to properly serve his notice of appeal on the Department by April 6, 2020, the ALC lacked appellate jurisdiction to hear his appeal. The ALC properly recognized it lacked appellate jurisdiction and dismissed Appellant's appeal. This Court should affirm.

**B. The ALC properly found Appellant's attempt to serve the Department with his notice of appeal via e-mail was insufficient and failed to comply with the statutes and rules governing appeals from the Panel's decision and, thus, did not confer appellate jurisdiction.**

Appellant's attempt to serve the Department with his notice of appeal via e-mail was insufficient to confer appellate jurisdiction on the ALC. As noted above, section 41-35-750 and Rule 5, SCALC require a party seeking judicial review of a Panel decision to serve the Department with the notice of appeal within thirty days of the mailing date of the Panel decision. Under Rule 5, "[s]ervice shall be made by delivery, by mail to the last known address, or as otherwise approved by the [ALC] through administrative order." The 2019 Revised Notes for Rule 5 further explain how a party must effectuate service. The notes expressly state "parties may not serve documents by e-mail." The notes further state "service is by delivery or mailing, but not fax." Further, to the extent it is even applicable to an appeal before the ALC, Rule 262(b), SCACR also requires service by delivery or mail. Rule 262(b) explains service "shall be made by delivering a copy to [the party] or by mailing it to [the party]...." Thus, the ALC rules and the South Carolina Appellate

Court Rules require an appellant to serve the notice of appeal by delivery or mail. Neither set of rules permit service via e-mail, and the notes to Rule 5, SCALC expressly state e-mail is insufficient for service.

Additionally, the ALC did not have any administrative order in effect due to the pandemic that allowed appellants to serve a notice of appeal via e-mail. As noted by the ALC in its May 18, 2020 order, the Chief Administrative Law Judge issued an administrative order on March 24, 2020, explaining any changes in procedure due to the pandemic. The March 24, 2020 administrative order specifically stated, "All Rules of Procedure regarding the method for the filing and service of documents are still in effect. **This Order does not apply to the statutory timeframes for filing the initial request for a hearing or notice of appeal.**" (ALC Administrative Order, 3/24/20). Thus, the ALC's administrative order did not alter or amend the methods for serving a notice of appeal.

In his brief, Appellant claims his e-mail service was sufficient based on Rule 4, SCRCF. (App. Br. 22, 25). This argument is flawed for multiple reasons. First, counsel for the Department has reviewed Rule 4 and cannot find where it authorizes service via e-mail. Rule 4 does not appear to ever mention e-mail.

Second, the ALC rules governed the Appellant's appeal to the ALC, and the applicable rules for service must be found in the ALC rules, not the rules of civil procedure. *See* Rule 1, SCALC ("These Rules shall govern all proceedings before the [ALC], in which the right to a hearing (a) is provided by the Administrative Procedures Act; (b) is specifically required by other statutes or regulations; or (c) is required by due process under the South Carolina or United States Constitutions."). The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure do not apply to administrative appeals before the ALC. *See* Rule 1, SCRCF ("These rules govern the procedure in all South

Carolina courts in all suits of a civil nature . . . ."); Rule 81, SCRPC (limiting the application of the rules of civil procedure to trial courts of civil jurisdiction as well as to magistrate's courts, probate courts, and family courts to the extent they are not inconsistent with the statutes and rules governing those courts); *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Fallon Props. S.C., LLC*, 422 S.C. 211, 215, 810 S.E.2d 856, 858 (2018) (finding reliance on the rules of civil procedure was erroneous in an appeal before the supreme court because the rules of civil procedure have no application in an appellate proceeding). Thus, even if the rules of civil procedure authorized service via e-mail, such a civil procedure rule would have no application to Appellant's administrative appeal before the ALC.

Although the Department recognizes Appellant is proceeding pro se, a pro se litigant is responsible "for complying with substantive and procedural requirements of the law." *State v. Burton*, 356 S.C. 259, 265, 589 S.E.2d 6, 9 (2003). Indeed, Appellant's pro se status does not excuse his failure to comply with rudimentary procedures, such as serving the notice of appeal. Also, Appellant was aware of the deadline and the method required for service. The Panel's decision gave Appellant notice "[t]he law requires that a Petition for Judicial Review must be filed with the Court and served on all parties and [the Department] within thirty (30) days from the mailing date of [the Panel]'s final decision." (Panel Decision, 2/26/20). The Panel decision also informed Appellant service must be completed by mail. (Panel Decision, 2/26/20). As a result, Appellant had knowledge of the service requirement and the method for service but, nonetheless, failed to comply. *See Georganne Apparel, Inc. v. Todd*, 303 S.C. 87, 92, 399 S.E.2d 16, 19 (Ct. App. 1990) ("There is a limit beyond which the court should allow a litigant to consume the time of the court and to prolong unnecessarily time, effort, and costs to defending parties.").

Furthermore, despite his pro se status, Appellant has repeatedly informed the Department of an alleged high IQ, his extensive legal training and experience, and that he "is most capable of conducting extensive legal research." (Appellant's Emergency Motion to Strike and Emergency Motion for Reconsideration, p. 2, 3/3/20, included with the Department's Motion to Dismiss dated 4/9/20 as Exhibit B). Thus, based on pronouncements from our supreme court, as cited above, and Appellant's own claims regarding his legal acumen, this Court should require Appellant to comply with basic service requirements.

Based on these authorities, Appellant's attempt to serve the Department with his notice of appeal via e-mail was insufficient to confer appellate jurisdiction. The ALC properly ruled Appellant's e-mail did not confer appellate jurisdiction on the ALC and dismissed the appeal.

**II. THE COURT SHOULD DISREGARD THE OTHER ISSUES APPELLANT RAISES IN HIS BRIEF BECAUSE THEY ARE UNPRESERVED AND IRRELEVANT TO THE ONLY ISSUE CONSIDERED AND RULED UPON BY THE ALC—WHETHER THE ALC HAD APPELLATE JURISDICTION.**

The Court should disregard the other issues Appellant raises in his brief because they are unpreserved and irrelevant to the only issue considered and ruled upon by the ALC—whether the ALC had appellate jurisdiction. The standard of review governing this Court's evaluation of the ALC decision, found in section 1-23-610(B), states the Court's review must be confined to the record. Further, "[i]t is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court] to be preserved for appellate review." *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). The preservation rules requiring a party to raise its arguments and obtain a ruling on them apply to administrative proceedings. *See Brown v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 348 S.C. 507, 519, 560 S.E.2d 410, 417 (2002); *see Home Med. Sys., Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 556, 562, 677 S.E.2d

582, 586 (2009) ("As in other appellate matters, we require issue preservation in administrative appeals.").